A.  SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Vincent Melendrez is the father of seven children, whom he 

raised alone following his divorce.  As an employee for Microsoft, Mr. 

Melendrez worked long hours and relied on his older children to 

manage the household and care for the younger children in his absence.  

Much of this responsibility fell on his oldest child, R.M.  However, as 

R.M. got older Mr. Melendrez became concerned about her behavior.  

After she ran away for several days, he required her to attend school 

online until her behavior improved.  When he threatened to place her in 

the online program a second time, she made an allegation to her school 

counselor that Mr. Melendrez had regularly forced her to have sex. 

The information was constitutionally deficient and the trial court 

erred when it denied Mr. Melendrez’s request for a bill of particulars.  

At trial, the court violated Mr. Melendrez’s constitutional rights when it 

required him to testify before the other defense witnesses, inadvertently 

informed the jury he was in custody, permitted a nurse to make a 

speculative statement beyond her area of expertise, and failed to make 

it clear to the jurors that they must agree on one specific act to find Mr. 

Melendrez guilty of incest.  For these reasons, this Court should 

reverse.   
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B.  ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court violated Mr. Melendrez’s constitutional right to

present a defense when it required him to testify before the other 

defense witnesses in order to admit relevant evidence. 

2. The trial court violated Mr. Melendrez’s privilege against

self-incrimination when it required him to testify ahead of the other 

witnesses for the defense in order to admit relevant evidence. 

3. The information violated the Sixth Amendment and article I,

section 22 when it provided lengthy charging periods for the rape and 

incest charges. 

4. The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Melendrez’s request

for a bill of particulars. 

5. The Petrich instruction and trial court’s response to the

jury’s question failed to make the relevant legal standard regarding jury 

unanimity manifestly apparent as to count IV. 

6. The trial court violated Mr. Melendrez’s right to a fair trial

when it informed the jury he was in custody. 

7. The trial court erred when it allowed the State’s witness to

adopt a speculative, conclusory statement outside her area of expertise. 
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8. Cumulative error denied Mr. Melendrez a fair trial under the

Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 3. 

C.  ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Pursuant to the Due Process Clause and the Sixth

Amendment, a defendant must be given the opportunity to be heard in 

his defense and control the presentation of his defense.  The Fifth 

Amendment and article I, section 9, also prohibit a defendant from 

being compelled to present evidence against himself.  The trial court 

required Mr. Melendrez to testify before allowing him to question other 

defense witnesses about relevant evidence.  Did this ruling violate Mr. 

Melendrez’s right to present a defense and privilege against self-

incrimination? 

2. Under the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22, a

charging document must allege every element of the charged offense 

and the particular facts supporting the offense so that a defendant has 

sufficient notice to prepare an adequate defense.  Where the lengthy 

charging periods provided in the information for the counts of rape of a 

child and one of the counts of incest made it impossible for Mr. 

Melendrez to present an alibi defense, was the information 

constitutionally deficient? 
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3. A defendant has a constitutional right to be informed of the

nature and cause of the accusation against him, and an information that 

states each statutory element of the alleged crimes but is vague as to 

some other significant matter can be corrected with a bill of particulars.  

Where the State was permitted to amend the information approximately 

one month into trial, and the defense requested a bill of particulars in 

order to prepare its defense, did the trial court violate Mr. Melendrez’s 

Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22, rights when it denied this 

request? 

4. The jury instructions must make the relevant legal standard

manifestly apparent to the average juror.  The jurors submitted a 

question, pointing to the instructions containing the relevant Petrich 

language and asking the court whether they needed to agree on a 

specific incident in order to find Mr. Melendrez guilty of count IV, 

which alleged first degree incest.  When the trial court refused to 

answer the question directly and instead directed the jurors to the 

instructions they had identified as confusing, did it violate Mr. 

Melendrez’s right to due process and jury unanimity? 

5. A defendant is entitled to both the presumption of innocence

and the indicia of innocence.  When the trial court inadvertently 
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informed the jury that Mr. Melendrez was in custody, did it violate his 

right to a fair trial? 

 6.  Conclusory or speculative expert opinions lacking an 

adequate foundation should not be admitted at trial.  Where a nurse was 

permitted to testify it would not be surprising to find the remnant of a 

hymen in a 16 year-old who had sex one hundred times, despite no 

evidence establishing the nurse had the knowledge, skills, or education 

to draw such a conclusion, is reversal required?  

 7.  Even where no single error requires reversal, a conviction 

should nevertheless be reversed where the cumulative effect of non-

reversible errors denied the defendant the fair trial guaranteed by the 

Fourteenth Amendment.  Does the cumulative error doctrine mandate 

reversal? 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

 

 Vincent Melendrez joined the military at age 19 and served in 

the army for five years.  RP 1804-05.  He received training in computer 

networking and communications and used this skill to transition to a 

civilian position helping serve the military’s technology needs.  RP 

1806.  Mr. Melendrez worked long hours and traveled frequently for 
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his job.  RP 1807.  Married, and with a growing family, he accepted a 

position in Germany in 2001, which he hoped would allow him to 

spend more time at home.  RP 1808.   

 The job originally offered him a more flexible schedule and the 

family was excited about exploring Europe together.  RP 1808.  

However, after the 9/11 attacks, things quickly changed and Mr. 

Melendrez was required to work long hours six days a week.  RP 1808.  

By the time his family returned to the United States three years later, he 

had seven children and his marriage was strained.  RP 1808, 1810.  The 

family eventually moved back to Alaska to be near his wife’s family, 

but his marriage ended in divorce in 2007.  RP 1812. 

 Mr. Melendrez was awarded custody of all seven children, all of 

whom were under the age of 12 and one of whom had Down syndrome.  

RP 1812, 1843.  He moved the children to Bremerton, Washington, 

where his brother lived, and made arrangements to have his mother, 

Guadalupe,1 come up from California to help out.  RP 1812-13.  Mr. 

Melendrez was able to slowly transition his job from Alaska to 

Washington, and began working full time in Washington in January 

2008.  RP 1818.  He rented a house from his brother in Bremerton and 

                                                
 1 For purposes of clarity, the other members of the Melendrez family will be 

referred to by their first names. 
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changed jobs, starting work at Microsoft in July 2008.  RP 1820, 1824.  

In January 2009, the family moved into an apartment in Bremerton.  RP 

1820.  In March of 2010, the family moved back into the brother’s 

home until later that fall, when Mr. Melendrez moved everyone to an 

apartment in Renton after his mother returned to California.  RP 822, 

1824.  

Mr. Melendrez typically worked twelve-hour days, five days a 

week, at Microsoft, and brought work home.  RP 1828.  Managing this 

work schedule while also caring for seven children, including one with 

special needs, required that he schedule the kids’ daily routines 

carefully and rely on the older children to assist with household duties 

and childcare.  RP 777, 1961.  As the first-born, most of the 

responsibility fell on his daughter, R.M.  RP 815, 826-830.  R.M. 

helped her two younger sisters get ready for school, in addition to doing 

all of the laundry for the family, cooking dinner, and supervising the 

younger children’s homework.  RP 827, 830.  She also laid out her 

father’s clothes for work and got his bag ready when he worked the 

graveyard shift at Microsoft from September 2008 to April 2011.  RP 

828, 1824-25, 1827. 
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 Because he was often gone in the evenings, Mr. Melendrez 

required his children introduce him to any friend they wanted to have 

over while he was gone, and that they ask permission before inviting 

the friend over.  RP 1872.  Upon meeting his children’s friends, he 

confirmed the friend’s parents knew where they were and provided his 

cell phone number so the parents could contact him with any concerns.  

RP 1872.  However, the older kids, including R.M., did not always 

follow the rules.  She invited boys to the home while her father was at 

work without his permission and reported to family members that she 

was sexually active with her boyfriend.  RP 1537-43, 1925-26.   

 Mr. Melendrez became particularly concerned about R.M.’s 

behavior after he learned from his mother that R.M. was “sexting,” or 

sending naked photos of herself to boys using her cell phone, and R.M. 

confirmed this was true.  RP 1511, 1926, 1972.  After the family 

moved to the apartment in Bremerton, Mr. Melendrez’s sons reported 

R.M. was not sneaking out as often, but had begun inviting boys to the 

home and spending time alone with them behind closed doors.  RP 

1974.  Mr. Melendrez then learned one of R.M.’s boyfriends had 

vandalized a car while the other kids watched.  RP 1975.   
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 Because he was increasingly concerned about what was 

happening in the home while he was gone, Mr. Melendrez pretended to 

leave for work one day in the summer of 2009, and surprised the kids 

by returning home an hour later.  RP 1977-79.  Upon entering his 

bedroom, he saw the sheets had been stripped and his two oldest sons, 

William and Daniel, informed him R.M. had smoked marijuana and 

had sex in his bed with her boyfriend after he left.  RP 1978.  R.M. 

continued to deny her brothers’ reports, but several months later Mr. 

Melendrez found a note in R.M.’s handwriting in which she told a 

classmate she had sex with a specific boy.  RP 1980.  He quickly took 

her to a clinic so that she could speak with a medical professional about 

practicing safe sex.  RP 1982.  In the fall of 2010, Mr. Melendrez grew 

more concerned about his daughter’s behavior.  He found evidence 

R.M. was sexting again.  RP 2014.  He also received a report card from 

her school that indicated she was failing her math and science classes.  

RP 2016.  Her teachers reported that she was not paying attention and 

talking excessively in class.  RP 2016. 

 Mr. Melendrez grounded R.M. for most of November in 

response to the report card and sexting.  RP 2017.  On Thanksgiving 

Day 2010, the family had relatives over to celebrate.  RP 1682.  Mr. 
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Melendrez had to leave after dinner to go to work, and R.M. asked to 

go out with friends.  RP 1682, 2017.  He told her no, in part because 

she had been grounded and in part because he felt she needed to help 

her brothers clean up from the dinner.  RP 2017.  R.M. helped clean 

until her father left, at which point she told her brothers she was going 

outside to talk to friends and would be right back.  RP 1682.  The boys 

finished cleaning and, when R.M. did not return, one of them called 

Mr. Melendrez to notify him that R.M. was not home.  RP 2018.   

 R.M. had gone to a classmate’s apartment with friends.  RP 873.  

Mr. Melendrez left work, went home, and texted her.  RP 2019.  When 

R.M. realized he had caught her lying, she became scared and decided 

to stay at her classmate’s house rather than return home and face 

punishment.  RP 874.  She stopped responding to his text messages and 

phone calls.  RP 875, 2019.  She stayed up all night talking with her 

classmate, and told the classmate how difficult her life was at home, 

having to adhere to her father’s rigid schedule and move around so 

often.  RP 875.  She also told her classmate that Mr. Melendrez had 

repeatedly sexually assaulted her.  RP 875.   

 Mr. Melendrez took personal leave from work and reported 

R.M. missing.  2019-20.  R.M. eventually called her father and told him 
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she planned to live with her classmate’s family but wanted to return 

home to pick up her things.  RP 881.  Mr. Melendrez agreed in order to 

get her to return home, but as soon as she arrived, he called 911 and 

had an officer speak with her about running away.  RP 2020.   

 In response to this incident, Mr. Melendrez pulled R.M. out of 

school and enrolled her in an online program, which she hated.  RP 

893.  She spent the remainder of her sophomore year of high school in 

the online program, but Mr. Melendrez allowed her to return to school 

for the start of eleventh grade after her behavior improved and she 

excelled academically.  RP 898, 2032. 

 However, by that fall, R.M. wanted badly to be free of her 

family.  RP 918.  Mr. Melendrez saw her behavior deteriorate.  RP 

2022.  He asked her to go to the post office and she returned three 

hours later, apparently high.  RP 2022-23.  He caught her sexting again.  

RP 2025.  On October 3, 2011, he received a call from the apartment 

manager, who informed him that she found R.M. performing oral sex 

on a boy in the complex’s welcome center bathroom that afternoon.  RP 

919, 1901, 2026.  

 According to R.M., when Mr. Melendrez learned about this he 

beat her, made her apologize to her siblings while bloody, and forced 
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her to stay in his bedroom the next day by strategically placing a 

mattress, ironing board, and shoe against the outside of the door.  RP 

921, 925-26.  However, according to William and Daniel, the door was 

never booby-trapped and R.M. was actually injured when she got into a 

physical altercation with another girl at school and a physical fight with 

Daniel, after she told him she was going to lie and say that Mr. 

Melendrez had raped her.  RP 1516, 1690-92.    

 Concerned that R.M. had fallen in with a bad crowd, Mr. 

Melendrez kept R.M. home and contacted the school counselor to try 

and figure out an alternative to sending her back to the public high 

school.  RP 1299, 2030.  On October 5, 2011, R.M. disregarded her 

father’s wishes and returned to school after he went to work, with plans 

to go live with the classmate she had stayed with the previous 

Thanksgiving.  RP 929.  After William confronted her at school and 

threatened to call Mr. Melendrez, she went to her school counselor and 

told the counselor Mr. Melendrez had been regularly having sex with 

her since 2008.  RP 938.  The counselor contacted child protective 

services.  RP 1293.      
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2. PROCEDURAL FACTS 

 

 The State initially charged Mr. Melendrez with two counts of 

second degree rape of a child and one count of first degree incest.  CP 

1-2.  However, the State moved to amend the information multiple 

times after the start of trial, in order to expand one charging period and 

the alleged location of the sexual assaults.  CP 57-59, 66-68, 96-98.  

When the State moved to amend the information a second time, Mr. 

Melendrez moved for a bill of particulars, but the trial court denied his 

request.  RP 1233, 1235.  

 At trial, the State presented evidence that Mr. Melendrez was 

extremely controlling, and restricted R.M.’s ability to leave the 

apartment and interact with others after he allegedly began having sex 

with her.  RP 780, 835-37, RP 1121-23, 1221-22.  Mr. Melendrez 

attempted to defend against the State’s allegations by presenting 

evidence of R.M.’s misbehavior, which offered an explanation for why 

he put these limitations in place.  RP 75, 112-14.  However, the court 

found most of the evidence was only relevant if Mr. Melendrez first 

testified that he had imposed punishment as a result of R.M.’s actions.  

RP 1055, 1661.  As a result, Mr. Melendrez was forced to limit his 
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direct examination of his sons, and present his testimony in fragments 

among the remainder of his witnesses.  RP 1498, 1804, 1960, 2085.      

        While limiting Mr. Melendrez’s ability to present evidence, the 

court permitted one of the State’s witnesses, a “sexual assault nurse 

examiner,” to speculate on whether it was unsurprising to see the 

remnant of a hymen in a 16 year-old who had engaged in sex one 

hundred times.  RP 1402.  During trial the court also inadvertently 

informed the jury that Mr. Melendrez was in custody when it asked, in 

front of the jurors, whether the jail had the staff available to enable the 

parties to stay later the following afternoon.  RP 1374.     

 When the court permitted the State to amend its information for 

a second time, and denied Mr. Melendrez’s request for a bill of 

particulars, it noted the importance of instructing the jury that it must 

unanimously agree on a specific act in order to find Mr. Melendrez 

guilty on the rape and incest charges.  RP 1235.  After the jury began 

its deliberations, it submitted a question to the court, citing these 

instructions as they related to one count of incest, and asking whether it 

needed to point to a specific incident or simply agree that an act 

occurred during the time frame.  CP 103.  Over Mr. Melendrez’s 

objection, the court refused to answer the jury’s question directly and 
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instead referred them back to the instructions the jurors had cited as 

confusing.  RP 103-04.     

 Mr. Melendrez was found guilty of all five counts, including 

one count of second degree rape of a child, one count of third degree 

rape of a child, two counts of first degree incest, and one count of 

witness tampering.  CP 138.  The trial court imposed an indeterminate 

life sentence with a minimum term of 245 months.  CP 142.              

E.  ARGUMENT 

1. MR. MELENDREZ’S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS 

WERE VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT REQUIRED 

HIM TO TESTIFY BEFORE THE OTHER DEFENSE 

WITNESSES IN ORDER TO PRESENT RELEVANT 

EVIDENCE 

 

a. The trial court’s ruling violated Mr. Melendrez’s 

constitutional right to present a defense. 

 

“Whether rooted directly in the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment or in the Compulsory Process or Confrontation 

Clauses of the Sixth Amendment, the Constitution guarantees criminal 

defendants ‘a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense.’”  

Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 

L.Ed.2d 503 (2006) (quoting Crane v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 683, 690, 

106 S.Ct. 2142, 90 L.Ed. 636 (1986)).  In essence, this is a defendant’s 

“right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State’s accusations.”  
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Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 

297 (2010); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); 

U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I §§ 3, 22.   

A defendant’s right to an opportunity to be heard in his defense, 

including the right to offer testimony, “is basic in our system of 

jurisprudence.”  Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720.  In order for the jury to 

decide “where the truth lies,” a defendant must be given the 

opportunity to present his version of the facts.  Washington v. Texas, 

388 U.S. 14, 19, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967).  Implicit in 

this Sixth Amendment right is the defendant’s right to control his 

presentation of the defense.  State v. Lynch, 178 Wn.2d 487, 491, 309 

P.3d 482 (2013); see also Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819, 95 

S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975).  

Of course, the defendant’s right to offer testimony is not 

absolute.  Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720.  “Evidence that a defendant seeks 

to introduce ‘must be of at least minimal relevance.’”  Jones, 168 

Wn.2d at 720 (quoting State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 622, 41 P.3d 

1189 (2002)).  However, “[t]he threshold to admit relevant evidence is 

very low.  Even minimally relevant evidence is admissible.”  Darden, 

145 Wn.2d at 621.  Where the evidence at issue is of high probative 
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value, “no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its 

introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. 1, § 

22.”  Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720 (quoting State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 

14, 659 P.2d 514 (1983)).   

The Court reviews the denial of this Sixth Amendment right de 

novo.  Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 719. 

i. The State’s theory of the case was that Mr. Melendrez 

 was an incredibly controlling father who isolated R.M. 

 in order to sexually assault her.  

 

At trial, the State presented evidence that Mr. Melendrez 

initiated sexual contact when R.M. was 13 years old, and thereafter he 

began to severely restrict her ability to leave the house or interact with

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