FILED
Aug 06, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 72210-7-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

VINCENT MELENDREZ,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE BILL BOWMAN

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANN SUMMERS Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

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

In contrast, Melendrez was on notice with the original charges filed in 2012 that the State was alleging that he committed rape of a child in the second degree between January 1, 2008 and April 28, 2009. CP 1-2. This 16-month charging period, and the almost two years Melendrez had to prepare to defend the

allegations, is fundamentally different from the situation addressed in <u>Baker</u>. Moreover, the <u>Baker</u> court fails to explain the constitutional principle upon which its opinion is based.³

Baker is distinguishable and should not be followed in this case. The information in this case included all the elements of the crimes and was constitutionally sufficient. The trial court reasonably concluded that a bill of particulars was unnecessary where the defense was fully informed of the details of the victim's testimony well in advance of trial.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN RULING THAT EVIDENCE OF THE VICTIM'S ALLEGED MISCONDUCT WAS NOT ADMISSIBLE UNLESS KNOWN TO THE DEFENDANT.

Melendrez contends that the trial court violated his constitutional rights when it "required him to testify before other defense witnesses." However, this contention does not reflect what actually happened at trial. The trial court did not require Melendrez to testify first. Three of the six defense witnesses testified before

³ The late amendment in <u>Baker</u> likely would have resulted in dismissal of the charge under Washington law pursuant to CrR 8.3(b) due to governmental mismanagement. <u>See State v. Michielli</u>, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239, 937 P.2d 587 (1997) (dismissing trafficking charges added only three days before trial). But there was no late amendment to new charges or a new charging period in this case.

Melendrez. The trial court did not arbitrarily dictate the order of the defense witnesses. Rather, the trial court ruled that evidence of the victim's alleged misbehavior was not admissible pursuant to ER 404(b) to attack her character, but would be relevant and admissible if offered to explain the defendant's disciplinary decisions. However, that relevance was contingent upon the defendant's actual knowledge of such misbehavior. Thus, before other witnesses could testify to acts of alleged misconduct, the defense had to lay a foundation for the defendant's own knowledge of the behavior. The trial court's ruling was a correct interpretation of ER 404(b) and did not violate the defendant's constitutional rights.

Throughout the trial, the parties and the trial court grappled with admissibility of evidence offered by the defense to attack the victim's character. The State argued the evidence was inadmissible pursuant to ER 404(b) and the rape shield law. RP 72-88, 174-94, 1016-56, 1482-89, 1599-1649, 1661, 1760-71. At the heart of this issue were differing versions of the reasons behind the restrictions that Melendrez placed on R.M. and the punishments she received. The State's theory was that Melendrez's sexual jealousy of his daughter caused him to place severe restrictions on

her movements, like requiring her to attend high school online from home, and caused him to punish her severely when she had contact with boys her age. The defense theory was that these restrictions and punishments were simply part of Melendrez's ordinary parenting. The defense trial memorandum discussed the alleged "long history of disciplinary problems" involving R.M.

CP 32. That memorandum outlined evidence that R.M.'s brothers, D.M. and W.M., "were well aware of the various issues with their sister including some not known by their father." CP 32. The State, in its trial memorandum, moved to exclude evidence regarding R.M.'s past sexual history, including the texting of images, pursuant to the rape shield statute, RCW 9A.44.020, and any other alleged misconduct pursuant to ER 404(b). RP 188-89, 196-97.

Before W.M. testified, the trial court explained its ruling as to the evidence it would allow of R.M.'s alleged bad acts:

So evidence of bad acts or conduct that can be evidence of bad acts, hanging out, smoking dope, hanging out in the wrong places, you know, these types of things, the relevance of that evidence comes from the knowledge of the father and the father's decision to act on that knowledge by imposing restrictions on [R.M.].

So simply eliciting evidence of the bad acts themselves, there will be no relevance to the acts unless that was established.

RP 1488-89. The court later clarified:

... the actions of [R.M.], whether it be sneaking out of the house or smoking marijuana or any other actions for which she may been disciplined, are only relevant to the extent that Dad knew of them and that Dad took action because of them.

RP 1661.

Melendrez argues that this ruling violated his right to present a defense. However, the trial court did not exclude any evidence that was relevant to the defendant's disciplinary actions. Melendrez fails to show how other acts of misconduct were relevant.

Melendrez's claim is being raised for the first time on appeal, and should not be considered pursuant to RAP 2.5(b). An evidentiary error is unpreserved unless a timely objection is made that states the specific ground of objection. State v. Wilbur-Bobb, 134 Wn. App. 627, 634, 141 P.3d 665 (2006). At no time did defense counsel object to the court's ruling as infringing on Melendrez's constitutional rights. RP 1760-71. The appellate court will review errors not preserved below pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3) only if the error is a "manifest error affecting a constitutional right." State v. Kalebaugh, ___ Wn.2d ___, ___ P.3d ___, 2015 WL 4136540

(2015). An error is "manifest" when there is a "plausible showing by the [appellant] that the asserted error had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case." Id. (quoting State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)). Here, Melendrez cannot show that the trial court's ruling had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial. Melendrez was not forced to testify first. Melendrez was not precluded from presenting any highly probative evidence. Melendrez has failed to show he preserved this error below, and has failed to show that it constitutes a manifest error affecting a constitutional right that can be raised for the first time on appeal.

Turning to the merits of the claim, a criminal defendant has the right to be heard in his own defense and to offer evidence, but these rights are not absolute. State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010). A criminal defendant has no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence. Id. The Constitution also permits judges to exclude evidence that is only marginally relevant and is outweighed by other factors such as unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or the potential to mislead the jury. Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326-27, 126 S. Ct. 1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006). For example, evidence of a rape victim's past

promiscuity can be constitutionally excluded from trial as long as the evidence does not have a high probative value. <u>State v.</u> <u>Hudlow</u>, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15-16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983).

In this case, there was plenty of evidence admitted through the testimony of W.M., the defendant and Guadalupe Melendrez regarding R.M.'s alleged misbehavior of which Melendrez was aware and to which he reacted by imposing discipline. RP 1514, 1520, 1540, 1543, 1925, 1928, 1972-82, 2014, 2016-17, 2023. Melendrez has failed to show that the trial court excluded any highly probative evidence.

Melendrez appears to argue that the trial court's evidentiary ruling affected the order of the defense witnesses. This is, however, constitutionally permissible. In <u>Brooks v. Tennessee</u>, 406 U.S. 605, 92 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 358 (1972), the Court invalidated a statute that required the defendant to testify first in all cases. However, reasonable rulings as to the admissibility of

⁴ The State believes it would be a disservice to the victim to recount this testimony in detail.

⁵ Melendrez's argument that the ruling unfairly restricted the testimony of W.M. and D.M. is without merit. If the defense felt that additional evidence could have been offered by the boys, they could have been recalled after Melendrez testified. It is the nature of trial work that witnesses are often called out of order, or recalled, as happened here with the testimony of both R.M. and Melendrez. As defense counsel himself noted at the beginning of trial, "I've got a couple of professional witnesses we're working with, working schedules, so it may be a situation where we end up taking somebody out of order, but I think that would be par for the course." RP 7.

evidence that may affect the order of defense witnesses do not pose constitutional problems. In Menendez v. Terhune, 422 F.3d 1012, 1030 (9th Cir. 2005), the co-defendants wanted to introduce testimony that "could explain why they feared their parents," whom they had murdered. The trial court ruled that the defendants were first required to lay a foundation about their actual belief in imminent danger. Id. In affirming the trial court's exercise of discretion, the Ninth Circuit explained that Brooks did not curtail the power of trial courts to set the order of proof. Id. at 1031. A trial court may refuse to allow testimony until a proper foundation is laid, including when that foundation must be laid by the defendant's testimony. Id. See also Johnson v. Minor, 594 F.3d 608 (8th Cir. 2010) (defendant properly required to testify before his wife to lay foundation for evidence of threats by victim). Similarly, a trial court may require the defendant to testify before a defense witness when that witness is currently unavailable. Harris v. Barkley, 202 F.3d 169 (2nd Cir. 2000); People v. Wiege, 133 Cal.App.4th 1342, 35 Cal. Rptr. 482 (2005). As the Second Circuit has explained, "Brooks does not constitute a general prohibition against a trial judge's regulation of the order of trial in a way that may affect the timing of a defendant's testimony." Harris, 202 F.3d at 173.

In this case, the trial court's ruling was soundly based on the evidence rules and did not exclude any highly probative evidence.

While the trial court's ruling may have affected the order of the defense witnesses, the ruling was well within the trial court's discretion and did not violate any of Melendrez's constitutional rights.

3. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN RULING THAT THE NURSE EXAMINER'S OPINION TESTIMONY AS TO MEDICAL OBSERVATIONS WAS ADMISSIBLE.

Melendrez contends that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing opinion testimony by the nurse examiner. This claim should be rejected. The challenged testimony was based on the nurse examiner's observations and expertise and was helpful to the jury in a matter beyond the common knowledge of the average layperson.

The sexual assault nurse examiner testified that she was both a registered nurse and a nurse practitioner and worked for seven years as a specially-trained sexual assault nurse examiner at Harborview Medical Center. RP 1345-47. She had been a nurse for 30 years. RP 1345. She testified that she had performed approximately 900 sexual assault examinations in her career, with

half of those patients being teenagers. RP 1349. The nurse examiner testified without objection that it is possible to have a partially intact hymen after sexual activity. RP 1401. In this case, she observed remnants of the victim's hymen still intact. RP 1401. The prosecutor asked whether it would be surprising to her if a teenager who had had sex a hundred times would still have remnants of the hymen intact. RP 1402. The court overruled a defense objection. RP 1402. The nurse examiner answered no. RP 1402.

Melendrez argues that the nurse examiner's testimony was "highly speculative and lacked foundation." Melendrez does not challenge her qualifications as an expert, or claim that her testimony contained an improper opinion as to the defendant's guilt.

ER 702 allows the trial court to admit an expert opinion that is helpful to the jury. State v. Jones, 59 Wn. App. 744, 750, 801 P.2d 263 (1990). Expert evidence is helpful and appropriate when it addresses matters that are beyond the common knowledge of the average layperson. Id. In this case, the nurse examiner's medical knowledge as to the state of hymens after repeated sexual activity was a matter beyond the common knowledge of the average layperson, and was helpful to the jury. The fact that parts of a

hymen can remain intact after many instances of intercourse was relevant, as without that expert testimony the jury might have believed, based on common myths, that the state of the victim's hymen was indicative of very few sexual encounters. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing this testimony.

Moreover, any error in allowing the testimony was harmless. An error in admitting expert testimony is subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Yates, 161 Wn.2d 714, 168 P.3d 359 (2007). The violation of an evidentiary rule is harmless unless, within reasonable probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). In this case, the challenged testimony of the nurse examiner was of minor significance in light of the DNA evidence showing that Melendrez's sperm was found in the victim's underwear on the day she reported abuse, and that the victim's DNA was found on Melendrez's underwear on the same day. The DNA evidence provided overwhelming corroboration of the victim's testimony. Any error in admitting the nurse examiner's testimony regarding hymens was harmless.

4. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING THE MOTION FOR MISTRIAL BASED ON THE COURT'S COMMENT ABOUT EXTENDING COURT HOURS.

Melendrez contends that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a mistrial based on a very brief question by the trial court to "jail staff" about extending the court day. This claim is without merit. The trial court's question was ambiguous and did not advise the jury that the defendant was in custody. Evidence presented at trial indicated that Melendrez was out of custody pending trial. Moreover, the court agreed to give a curative instruction proposed by the defense. In light of these circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that its comment did not warrant a mistrial.

The comment in question arose because the trial court became concerned about the unexpected length of the trial. Jury selection in this case began on January 6, 2014. RP 1, 123. The first witness was presented one week later, but the trial was then recessed for a week due to the prosecutor's illness. RP 374. On January 27th, trial was recessed again for one day due to a juror's illness. RP 796. The trial court became concerned about the jurors' continuing availability to serve on the jury, and started

considering extending the court days. RP 1211. At the end of the court day on February 3rd, the trial court asked the jurors if they could stay until 4:30 the following day. RP 1374. The court then asked, "Is the jail able to staff until 4:30 tomorrow afternoon? Excellent. Thank you." RP 1374.

The next morning, defense counsel moved for a mistrial, arguing that the trial court's comment inadvertently informed the jury that Melendrez was being held in jail. RP 1390. After reviewing the recording of the exchange, the trial court denied the motion, agreeing with the State that the jury could just as likely believe that the jail provides general courthouse security. RP 1391, 1455-56. The trial court agreed to give a curative instruction, which defense counsel proposed, in the instructions to the jury. RP 1456; CP 82. That instruction read as follows: "The custody status of a defendant is irrelevant. It does not and may not, in any way, diminish the presumption of innocence or in any other way influence your deliberations in this case." CP 114.

Melendrez argues that reversal is required because the trial court's comment might have caused some of the jurors to conclude that Melendrez was in custody. A defendant has the right to "the physical indicia of innocence," which includes appearing before the

jury free of restraints "with the appearance, dignity and self-respect of a free and innocent man." State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 844, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). Thus, shackling or handcuffing a defendant in view of the jury is inherently prejudicial and erodes the presumption of innocence. Id. However, even improper shackling is subject to harmless error analysis. State v. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998). In this case, Melendrez was not handcuffed or shackled in view of the jury and retained "the physical indicia of innocence" throughout trial.

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